

2026 Regular Session

HOUSE BILL NO. 232

BY REPRESENTATIVE CARLSON

EMPLOYMENT OF MINORS: Provides relative to employment certificates for minors

1 AN ACT

2 To amend and reenact R.S. 23:181, 184(introductory paragraph) and (2)(a), 187, and 191
3 and to repeal R.S. 23:183, 184(1), and 188, relative to employment certificates for
4 minors; to provide for the creation of employment certificate forms; to establish
5 requirements for employment certificate forms; to provide for the validity and
6 maintenance of employment certificates; to provide for the revocation of
7 employment certificates; to remove requirements of schools and school boards
8 issuing, approving, and maintaining employment certificates; to provide for an
9 effective date; and to provide for related matters.

10 Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

11 Section 1. R.S. 23:181, 184(introductory paragraph) and (2)(a), 187, and 191 are
12 hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

13 §181. Secretary to prescribe and furnish forms employment certificate form; form
14 requirements

15 A. The secretary shall prescribe and furnish ~~all forms to be used in~~
16 ~~connection with the issuance of employment certificates by each issuing authority~~
17 the employment certificate form on the department's website or at its local field
18 offices.

19 B. The employment certificate form shall, at a minimum, include the
20 following:

1 (1) A signature line for the minor seeking employment.

2 (2) A line on which the minor can indicate the date he signs the certificate.

3 (3) A statement attesting that the minor's parent or legal guardian consents
4 to and authorizes the minor to be employed and a signature line for the parent or
5 legal guardian affirming such consent and authorization.

6 (4) A line on which the parent or legal guardian can indicate the date he
7 signs the certificate.

8 (5) A statement explaining the submission of proofs of age as required by
9 R.S. 23:184 followed by boxes to select what proofs of age the minor intends to
10 submit to the employer.

11 (6) A line for the minor to provide the name of the prospective employer.

12 * * *

13 ~~§184. Requirements for issuance~~ Employment certificate requirements for validity;
14 proofs of age criteria

15 Employment certificates shall be ~~issued~~ valid and binding only upon the
16 personal application by the minor desiring employment, ~~accompanied by the written~~
17 ~~permission of the minor's parent or legal guardian~~ and upon submission to and
18 approval by the ~~issuing authority~~ employer of the following papers:

19 (2) One of the following proofs of age:

20 (a) A birth certificate, a short-form birth certification card, or a signed
21 statement ~~thereof~~ issued by the recorder of births.

22 * * *

23 ~~§187. Signing of certificate by minor; return by employer after~~ Validity of
24 employment certificates for employers; maintenance of employment
25 certificates after termination of employment

26 ~~The employment certificate shall be signed by the minor in the presence of~~
27 ~~the issuing authority and then it shall be returned to the minor for delivery to the~~
28 ~~employer.~~ An employment certificate shall be valid only for the employer ~~for whom~~
29 ~~issued~~ listed on the employment certificate form, and the employer shall be required

1 to maintain it on file for a period of fourteen days after the termination of the minor's
2 employment.

3 * * *

4 §191. Revocation

5 The secretary may revoke any employment or other certificate if in his
6 judgment it was improperly issued or if the minor is illegally employed. If the
7 certificate is revoked, ~~the issuing authority~~, the employer, and the minor, shall be
8 notified and the minor shall not ~~thereafter~~ be employed or permitted to work until a
9 new certificate has been legally obtained.

10 Section 2. R.S. 23:183, 184(1), and 188 are hereby repeal in their entirety.

11 Section 3. This Act shall become effective on August 2, 2026.

DIGEST

The digest printed below was prepared by House Legislative Services. It constitutes no part of the legislative instrument. The keyword, one-liner, abstract, and digest do not constitute part of the law or proof or indicia of legislative intent. [R.S. 1:13(B) and 24:177(E)]

HB 232 Original

2026 Regular Session

Carlson

Abstract: Changes provisions of law from allowing designated school and school board individuals to approve and issue employment certificates for minors to instead allowing a minor, with parental consent, to complete and submit an employment certificate directly to the employer.

Present law requires the secretary of La. Works to prescribe and furnish all forms necessary for acquiring an employment certificate from an issuing authority. Present law (R.S. 23:183) defines an issuing authority as a designated person within a public or private school or school board.

Proposed law instead requires the secretary of La. Works to prescribe and furnish the employment certificate form through the department's website or local field offices.

Proposed law requires the employment certificate form, at a minimum, to include the following:

- (1) A signature line for the minor seeking employment.
- (2) A statement that the minor's parent or legal guardian consents and authorizes the minor to be employed and a signature line for the parent or legal guardian to affirm such consent and authorization.
- (3) A statement explaining the submission of proofs of age as required by present law (R.S. 23:184) followed by boxes to select what proofs of age the minor intends to submit to the employer.
- (4) A line for the minor to provide the name of the prospective employer.

- (5) Lines to date the certificate.

Present law provides that employment certificates may be issued by either:

- (1) The parish or city public school superintendent or his designated representative.
- (2) The principal of a public or private school or his designated representative.

Proposed law repeals present law.

Present law requires the name of each designated representative to be submitted in writing for approval to the secretary of La. Works or his designee. Present law also requires the superintendent or private school principal, or his respective designee, to complete and electronically submit the Employment Certificate Interactive Form located on La. Works' website.

Proposed law repeals present law.

Present law provides that the employment certificate form shall be completed utilizing the information provided on the department's employment certificate database. Present law also provides that the employment certificate shall be printed and subsequently signed by the minor and the issuing authority, with a copy of the certificate given to the minor to bring to his employer.

Proposed law repeals present law.

Present law states that employment certificates shall only be issued upon the personal application by the minor seeking employment along with written parental consent and upon submission to and approval by the issuing authority of the necessary paperwork required by law. The aforementioned paperwork required by present law includes a statement signed by the prospective employer attesting to specific employment information and documentation verifying the minor's age.

Proposed law instead provides that employment certificates shall be considered valid and binding only upon personal application by the minor desiring employment and upon submission to the employer and verification of the minor's age by the employer.

Present law requires the minor to sign the employment certificate in the presence of the issuing authority and deliver the signed certificate to his employer. Present law further provides that the employment certificate shall be valid only for the employer to whom it is issued.

Proposed law removes the requirement for the minor signing the employment certificate in the presence of the issuing authority. Proposed law also provides that the employment certificate shall be valid only for the employer listed on the employment certificate form.

Present law requires a copy of every employment certificate, along with any additional documents required to be submitted by an applicant in accordance with present law (R.S. 23:184), to be retained by the issuing authority. Present law also requires the issuing authority to keep a record of all applications denied.

Proposed law repeals present law.

Present law allows the secretary of La. Works to revoke any employment or other certificate if it was determined that it was improperly issued or if a minor is illegally employed. Present law also requires the issuing authority, the employer, and the minor to be notified

of such revocation, and the minor will be subsequently prohibited from being employed or permitted to work until a new certificate is legally obtained.

Proposed law removes the requirement of notifying the issuing authority of any revocation of an employment or other certificate and makes a technical correction. Proposed law otherwise retains present law.

Effective Aug. 2, 2026.

(Amends R.S. 23:181, 184(intro. para.) and (2)(a), 187, and 191; Repeals R.S. 23:183, 184(1), and 188))